STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHESHIRE, SS 8™ CIRCUIT COURT-DISTRICT DIVISION KEENE

The State of New Hampshire Case No.
V.

Bradley R. Jardis

MOTION TO DISMISS

NOW COMES the Defendant, Bradley R. Jardis, pro se, and respectfully moves this Honorable
Court to dismiss the charge against him for illegal parking under Keene City Ordinance 94-
152 (B) (2), on the grounds that the State of New Hampshire's selective enforcement of
"victimless" offenses, such as this parking violation, violates the Equal Protection Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Part I, Articles 1, 2, and

10 of the New Hampshire Constitution. The State's pattern of shielding judges from
prosecution for serious criminal conduct while aggressively pursuing minor infractions against
ordinary citizens demonstrates discriminatory enforcement and undermines the legitimacy of
the prosecution in this case.

In support thereof, Defendant states as follows:

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

. On 10/14/25, the Defendant was issued a parking ticket for having an expired meter outside the
Cheshire County Superior Court, which constitutes a victimless offense under New Hampshire
law. This charge does not involve harm to any person or property but is instead a regulatory
infraction enforced solely for administrative or revenue purposes.

. The State of New Hampshire has a documented history of failing to prosecute serious criminal
acts committed by its own officials within the judiciary, while selectively targeting citizens for
lesser, non-violent offenses. A prominent example is the incident underlying State v. Jason
Talley (Cheshire County Superior Court, 2012), where a sitting judge was captured on video
making false statements to court bailiffs, leading to the wrongful arrest and false imprisonment
of journalist Ademo Freeman who was exercising First Amendment rights.

. In that case, the judge's false statements to bailiffs resulted in the journalist's arrest on baseless
charges, constituting potential violations of New Hampshire statutes such as RSA 642:1
(Obstructing Government Administration), RSA 641:4 (False Reports to Law Enforcement)
and/or RSA 633:3 (False Imprisonment). Federal statues that were potentially violated include
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18 USC 242 (Deprevation of federal rights under color of law) and 18 USC 241 (Conspiracy to
deprive federal rights). Despite clear evidence of this misconduct—including video footage—
the State took no action to prosecute the judge. Instead, the judiciary responded by issuing
blanket orders banning recording devices in courthouses, further restricting constitutional rights
to freedom of the press.

. This cover-up exemplifies a broader pattern: Judges engage in misdemeanor and felonious
conduct without consequence, while the State zealously enforces trivial regulations against the
public. Such hypocrisy erodes public trust and renders enforcement of victimless crimes like
parking violations arbitrary and discriminatory.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Selective Prosecution Violates Equal Protection

. To establish a claim of selective prosecution, a defendant must show that (1) the prosecution has
a discriminatory effect (i.e., similarly situated individuals are not prosecuted), and (2) it is
motivated by a discriminatory purpose. See United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456, 465
(1996); State v. Monahan, 125 N.H. 17, 22 (1984) (adopting federal standards under New
Hampshire law). Here, judges who commit crimes—such as lying to induce false arrests and
enacting court rules in response to this misconduct—are "similarly situated" to ordinary citizens
in terms of criminal liability but are treated differently by not being prosecuted.

. The Talley incident demonstrates this disparity: A judge's on-camera falsehoods led to a citizen's
false imprisonment, yet no charges were filed against the judge. In contrast, the State routinely
prosecutes citizens for minor victimless offenses, including parking violations, which carry
fines and potential license penalties but pose no societal harm. This selective enforcement
discriminates against non-officials, creating two classes of citizens—one immune to
accountability and one subject to it—in violation of the Equal Protection Clause. See Yick Wo v.
Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 373-74 (1886) (unequal application of laws is unconstitutional).

. Under the New Hampshire Constitution, Part I, Article 1 provides that all persons are equal in
their natural and unalienable rights, and Article 2 emphasizes equality before the law. The
State's failure to prosecute judicial crimes while pursuing this case offends these principles, as it
allows officials to operate above the law.

B. The Right to Reform Government Under Part I, Article 10

. Part I, Article 10 of the New Hampshire Constitution declares: "Whenever the ends of
government are perverted, and public liberty manifestly endangered, and all other means of
redress are ineffectual, the people may, and of right ought to reform the old, or establish a new
government." This provision recognizes an individual and collective right to challenge
oppressive or hypocritical government actions, particularly when the State perverts justice by
covering for official misconduct.

. The Talley case illustrates such perversion: Judicial lies and false arrests went unpunished,

Page 2 of 3



leading to restrictions on First Amendment rights (e.g., courthouse recording bans) that hinder
public accountability. Enforcing victimless crimes amid this systemic hypocrisy endangers
public liberty and justifies dismissal as a means of redress.

10.Dismissing this charge would align with Article 10 by refusing to perpetuate a system where the

State demands compliance from citizens while excusing misdemeanors and felonies by its
agents.

C. Victimless Offenses and Proportionality

11.Parking violations are quintessential victimless crimes, lacking any injured party or direct harm.
When the State ignores serious offenses by officials (e.g., false imprisonment in Talley), it
forfeits moral and legal authority to enforce such minor regulations. Continued prosecution here
would compound the constitutional violations by prioritizing revenue over justice.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Mr. Jardis requests this Honorable Court to order the following relief:
A.Dismiss the complaint for violating Keene parking ordinance 94-152 (B) (2); or

B. Schedule a hearing if the Court is inclined to deny this Motion in which Mr. Jardis
respectfully requests five (5) minutes for oral argument; and

C. Grant any other relief this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

Bradley Jardis
10 Congress Street #302
Amesbury, MA 01913

10/15/25

I hereby certify that on the above date, a copy of this Motion was mailed to Keene, NH Police
Prosecutor.
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